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Area of proposed SFGS at Wyvis Lodge, Loch Glass, Evanton, Easter Ross:

Archaeological Evaluation

1.0 Background

The author was asked by Tilhill UPM to carry out an archaeological evaluation, consisting of a desk-based assessment and rapid walk-over survey, of an area of proposed SFGS planting around Wyvis Lodge at the west end of Loch Glass, near Evanton in Easter Ross. The object of the evaluation was to identify previously recorded archaeological sites or sites of archaeological or historical interest, to check the accuracy of their records and note associated minor features such as field systems, and to locate and record previously unidentified archaeological features. The ensuing gazetteer of archaeological sites will inform the design of the planting scheme and recommend measures for mitigating the impact of the scheme on the archaeological record.

The area is considered sensitive because of the presence of Listed Buildings, ie. Wyvis Lodge and its outbuildings, adjacent to the scheme. Listed Buildings are of national importance and protected by law from damage or significant alteration of their setting, and while the lodge and outbuildings will not be directly affected by the scheme, their visual setting may be altered in a way which might be considered negative. If the conclusion of this evaluation is that the scheme may have a negative impact, consultation with Historic Scotland may be required before the scheme goes ahead. 

2.0 Archaeological Background

No previous archaeological evaluation has been carried out in this area.

The following archaeological sites are recorded on the Highland Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) and the National Monuments Record for Scotland (NMRS) as within the present area of evaluation:

Abhainn Beinn nan Eun, Building and enclosure at NH 473 736

SMR no. NH47SE0004

Wyvis Lodge, Lodge, Stables, Game Larders, at NH 48486 73665

Listed ‘A’

SMR no. NH47SE0001

3.0 Historical Background

Loch Glass and the Abhainn Beinn nan Eun form part of a through route from the east to the west coast, crossing to Inchbae via the Bealach Culaidh and the Bealach nam Brog, the site of a clan battle in1369. So, while the area appears now to be isolated, it would have witnessed more traffic in earlier times, including possibly the prehistoric period. The lower part of Strath Glass contains a group of Neolithic chambered cairns, probably set as territorial markers on the rich farm land, and the use of the higher ground for seasonal grazing probably extends back to the Bronze Age.

Roy’s Military Survey, carried out in the 1750s, is the earliest to record, relatively accurately, townships and their cornlands. This map, however, has no record of settlement at the head of Loch Glass although it notes Riorachy (Ruighe Fhearchair) on the north shore and an unnamed township (Culzie) on the south. This omission may reflect inadequate surveying rather than an absence of settlement at the head of the loch. By 1823 John Thomson’s map records Corry Vachie but by this date it is likely that the land was already given over to sheep farming.

Traditionally a part of the lands of Munro of Novar north of the river and Foulis to the south, the Loch Glass area is likely to have been leased to lowland sheepfarmers at the same date as Kildermorie to the north, in 1791, but while Kildermorie achieved notoriety when the evicted tenants attempted to resist in 1792, the ‘Year of the Sheep’, the Clearances around Loch Glass are not recorded. Corrievachie is not recorded as a residence in 1840, suggesting that it is no more than a shepherd’s cottage. 

The first sporting lodge at the head of the loch was built before the 1880s, as it is recorded on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, published in 1881. This map records a smaller lodge occupying the same footprint as the later building, stables and two small outbuildings west of the lodge and a small plantation to the south. Corrievachie is recorded as the existing row of cottages with sheepfolds to the SW and a long enclosure to the north, with improved ground running north to the river and east of the sheepfolds. To the north of the river, two buildings and an enclosure are named as Ceann na Macharach. This place name does not appear in Watson’s Placenames of Ross and Cromarty.

The 1st edition OS map shows the Abhainn Beinn  nan Eun as much more meandering than it is at present, and the straightness of some sections suggests a deliberate canalisation to the north of Corrievachie, perhaps to improve access from one side of the river to the other. No bridge is recorded in 1881.

On the 1880 Census return, Wyvis Lodge is recorded as uninhabited, while the cottage at Corrievachie is occupied by one John MacKenzie and his family, originally from Lochbroom

Walter Shoolbred, head of a London cabinet-making firm, bought the sporting estate and built the present Tudor style lodge in 1886, with the two game larders on the loch shore. The stable block is also in the same style. It is probably at this date that the buildings at Ceann na Macharach were redesigned.

4.0 Gazetteer of Archaeological Sites

A rapid walk-over survey was carried out on October 19th 2006 in overcast but dry weather conditions. The following archaeological features were noted:

1. Ceann na Macharach settlement features, centred on NH 485 742

a. Head Dyke from NH 4842 7419 to NH 4879 7415. This is a visible feature which is partly recorded on the OS 1:25000 map. The western section follows the same line as the later stalkers’ path (Site 2b) To the west of the stream it cannot be traced but it may have rundown the west bank of the stream to the loch, as a spread rubble bank can be traced there.

b. Enclosure centred on NH 4855 7412. This enclosure is recorded on the 1st edition OS map and the 1970s OS 1:25000, but is not visible on the ground.

c. Building and enclosure at NH 4847 7415. This building, probably the same as the one recorded on the 1st edition OS map, is a stalker’s cottage. It is associated with a rectangular enclosure lined with mature beech trees and formerly enclosed by a wire fence (Photo no. 1)
d. Building, site of at NH 4845 7419. A roofed building is recorded here on the 1st edition OS map, but there is now no trace of it on the ground. It is therefore unlikely to have been a stone building which would have left visible footings.

e. Kennels at NH 4850 7418. A two-compartmented stone built kennels with an attached small enclosure

f. Cairn, borrow pits at NH 4843 7412. A conical cairn of small stones, standing  no more than 0.6m in height, next to an area of borrow pits which have been used as domestic bonfire sites. Although weathered, the cairn is probably of no great age. (Photo no. 2)

g. Rubble Revetments along stream banks from NH 4839 7423 to NH 4854 7412. Both banks of the stream are built up with low rubble walling

h. Field clearance cairns, possible structures centred on NH 4851 7416. A number of field clearance piles and rickles are scattered across the area to the east and SE of the cottage enclosure. In addition, a small stone setting at NH 4853 7408, consisting of approximately 7 stones and measuring 2m by 1m, which may be a dairy platform, and a stone row at NH 4855 7408, aligned NE-SW and measuring 4m in length with a return at the SW end which may be the footings of the end of a building (Photo no. 3). At NH 4856 7407, a figure of 8-shaped field clearance pile may overlie a former two-compartmented shieling structure (Photo no. 4)

i. Field edge from NH 4864 7416 to NH 4864 7414. Low banking and set stones delineating the west edge of a cleared field area.

j. Banks at NH 4871 7417 Three parallel, spread but substantial linear rubble banks, possibly consumption dykes, run to the shore. (Photo no. 5, foreground)

k. Turf Dyke from NH 4876 7415 to NH 4875 7418. This turf and rubble dyke runs up from the shore and possibly turns west to run along the north edge of a cultivation area, but is now indistinct.

2. Stalkers’ Paths from NH 4847 7419. The west track runs NW up the west bank of the stream to NH 4839 7423 then doubles back to run up the SE up the slope then turn west (Photo no. 6). The east track crosses the stream via a former bridge at NH 4846 7419 where a stone bridge pier is still visible on the east bank, (Photo no. 7) and follows the former township head dyke, first on its south side then crossing to its north and continuing NE up the hill. The latter track is recorded on the 1st edition OS map, suggesting that the former track post-dates the 1880s.
3. Wyvis Lodge at NH  4849 7366. The lodge, stables and game larders are as recorded (Photo no. 8). To the west of the large a large and apparently artificial mound both provides shelter and contains ice houses (Photo no. 9). The material for this mound may have been extracted from the pond (Site 4)

4. Artificial pond at NH 4844 7352. What may be an artificial pond to attract wild duck, with an island which would have held hides for shooting. This is not recorded on the 1st edition OS map and may have been a part of the Shoolbred improvements

5. Corravachie settlement features, centred on NH 4812 7332

a. Buildings The standing buildings now consist of a row of cottages, now used by the army, which may have been shepherds’ or stalkers’ and as recorded on the 1st edition OS map, to the SW of these a kennels with dog compound and to the SE a larger house. The kennels and house post-date 1880, the kennels and compound overlie the sheepfold recorded on the 1st edition OS map.

b. Head Dyke from NH 4818 7317 to NH 4856 7338. A substantial turf and rubble dyke, running east from the Allt Corravachie then turning NE to follow the west bank of the small stream flowing to Loch Glass. Where the stream turns north the dyke becomes indistinct but may originally have followed the stream.

c. Cultivated ground. The best ground at Corrievachie would appear to be west of the Allt Corrievachie south of the plantation, and north of the cottages and east of the strip of plantation which runs to the river. Some mounds which may be banks or field clearance piles were noted in the latter area, but there were no apparent structures.

6. Enclosure at NH 4857 7347. A small rectangular enclosure, possibly containing trees, is recorded at this location on the 1st edition OS map, but it is not now visible on the ground

5.0 Archaeological Conclusions

No prehistoric features were identified during this survey, although it is possible that early features underlie later structures.

The evidence from the structures identified on the ground at Ceann na Macharach is still unclear as to whether this was a permanently inhabited township or a seasonally occupied shieling site. The presence of the substantial head dyke suggests a township, but no buildings were identified, although it is possible that these occupied the same ground as the present building. Certain features suggest a shieling site, particularly the figure of 8-shaped structure underlying a field clearance pile and the possible dairy platform. 

Whatever the function of the site, it has been extensively cleared for cultivation, although no rigs were evident, and this cultivation almost definitely pre-dates the use of the site for stalking activities.

There are no surviving features dating to the period of sheep farming on either side of the river, apart from possibly the cottages at Corrievachie. The area underwent a major redesign with the introduction of sporting activities, with the construction of stalkers paths, conversion of standing buildings and construction of new buildings such as kennels. The wet low ground by the river, however, appears relatively unchanged and still forms a barrier between north and south of the river.

6.0 Recommendations

Site 1, Ceann na Macharach, contains a number of minor features which may date to the Early Modern, or pre-Clearance period, notably possible structures, banks, dykes and field clearance piles. To leave the entire area clear of planting to protect these features is probably undesirable, but it is recommended that the individual features be identified, marked and left clear. Some of the features form groups, such as the banks and turf dyke to the east of the area, and the stone row which is possible building footings, and the possible shieling structure, which could be left in open clearings. Alternatively, the entire area could be left as relatively open ground, with tree planting only in clusters in areas seen to be clear of any archaeological features. This would have the advantage of preserving the identity of the settlement area.

Site 2, Stalkers Paths, should be left clear of planting as landscape features

Site 3, the Lodge and its surrounds, will not be directly affected by the planting. As mentioned above, the Lodge is a listed building and its setting should not be significantly altered without consultation with Historic Scotland. However, the introduction of trees is not likely to have a detrimental effect on the setting of the lodge. The vista of the lodge as one approaches along the loch side will be unaffected. The lodge itself appears to have been designed to take benefit of the view down the loch, and the construction of the artificial mound to the rear of the building effectively blocks the view to the west and the mountains, and therefore towards the greater part of the new planting. No re-design of the scheme is recommended

Site 5b, the Head Dyke of Corrievachie township runs alongside the proposed boundary of the scheme and may be affected by the construction of new fencing. It is recommended that the fence line be shifted away from the dyke, preferably to its north, to leave the structure outwith the planting area.

Site 6, Enclosure, can be presumed to not exist as an archaeological feature, and no remedial action need be taken.
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